Public Document Pack

&) Swale

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Agenda

Licensing Sub-Committee Meeting

Date: Thursday, 9 November 2023

Time 10.00 am

Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, ME10 3HT*
Membership:

Councillors Carole Jackson, Lee-Anne Moore and Tony Winckless

Quorum =3

Pages
Information about this meeting
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how
to join the meeting will be added to the website by 8 November 2023.

Recording and Privacy Notice

Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation.

This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s
website. By entering the chamber and by speaking at a meeting, whether in
person or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording
being published.

When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting.

If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or
your rights under the legislation, please email
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.

1. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building
and procedures are advised that:

(@) The fire alarm is a continuous loud ringing. In the event that a fire
drill is planned during the meeting, the Chair will advise of this.

(b) Exit routes from the chamber are located on each side of the room,
one directly to a fire escape, the other to the stairs opposite the


mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk

lifts.

(c) Inthe event of the alarm sounding, leave the building via the
nearest safe exit and gather at the assembly point on the far side of
the car park. Do not leave the assembly point or re-enter the
building until advised to do so. Do not use the lifts.

(d) Anyone unable to use the stairs should make themselves known
during this agenda item.

2. Apologies for Absence
3. Notification of Chair and Outline of Procedure
4. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or
other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary
interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIS) to
declare in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an
item must leave the room for that item and may not participate in the
debate or vote.

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed
observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be
biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this
and leave the room while that item is considered.

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination
should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting.

Part B Reports for the Licensing Sub-Committee to decide
5. Review of Premises Licence under the Licensing Act 2003 5-82
To review the premises Licence of Best One, 16 Hawthorn Road,

Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1BB.

Issued on Wednesday, 25 October 2023

The reports included in Part | of this agenda can be made available
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to
arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please

contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES at
democraticservices@swale.gov.uk. To find out more about the
work of this meeting, please visit www.swale.gov.uk



mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

Licensing Sub-Committee Meeting

Meeting Date 9t November 2023

Report Title Consideration of an application for the review of a
premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

Premises Best One, 16 Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10
1BB

Lead Officer Johanna Thomas, Licensing Officer

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Recommendations Members are requested to determine the application on

its merits and decide whether to take such steps as
Members consider appropriate for the promotion of the
licensing objectives

1

11

2.1

2.2

2.3

Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

The report advises Members of an application for the review of a premises
licence granted under the Licensing Act 2003 made by PC lan Pickett 12274
on behalf of Kent Police in respect of Best One, 16 Hawthorn Road,
Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 1BB.

Background

The Licensing Sub-Committee is asked to determine an application for the
review of a premises licence under section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003.

The Licensing Act 2003 (the 2003 Act) requires the Council (as licensing
authority) to carry out its various functions so as to promote the following four
licensing objectives:

the prevention of crime and disorder
the protection of public safety

the prevention of public nuisance
the protection of children from harm

The 2003 Act requires the council to publish a ‘Statement of Licensing Policy’
that sets out the policies that will generally apply to promote the licensing
objectives when making decisions on applications made under the Act. The
council first adopted its Statement of Licensing Policy in 2004 and it has been
regularly reviewed in line with legislative requirements ever since. The latest
policy was adopted on 1st April 2021. The policy will be available at the
meeting for reference purposes and is available to view at
https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/strategies-and-policies/statement-
of-licensing-policy

Page 5


https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/strategies-and-policies/statement-of-licensing-policy
https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/strategies-and-policies/statement-of-licensing-policy

2.4

2.5

2.6

3.1

3.2

3.2

3.3

3.4

Under the 2003 Act, licensing authorities must, in carrying out their functions,
have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182.
The Guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario or set of
circumstances that may arise. Provided that the licensing authority has
properly understood and considered the guidance, it may depart from it when
it has reason to do so. However, as the licensing authority is under a duty to
have regard to the guidance, it will need to give full reason for any departure
from it. This would be a key consideration for the courts should departure from
the guidance result in a determination which might lead to an appeal or
judicial review. The Guidance will be available at the hearing for reference
purposes.

A copy of the council’s approved procedure for hearing of the Licensing Sub-
Committee in relation to an application, along with a copy of the Hearings
Procedure has been circulated to all parties prior to the meeting.

The Licensing Sub-Committee is reminded that the Human Rights Act 1998
guarantees the right to a fair hearing for all parties in the determination of their
civil rights. The Act also provides for the protection of property which may
include licences in existence and the protection of private and family life.

The current Licence

The current premises licence was originally granted on 6" September 2005 to
become effective on 24" November 2005 when the Licensing Act 2003
became law. At that time the premises licence holders were Mr and Mrs D
Andrews and Mr Denver Andrews was the DPS.

On 22" October 2009 the licence was transferred, and the premises licence
Holders were Roopak Kapoor and Roopesh Kapoor. The Designated
Premises Supervisor (DPS) was Vijay Kapoor.

The licence was further transferred into the name of Roopesh Kapoor as
premises licence holder on 215t December 2017 and Vijay Kapoor remained
as DPS.

On 24™ August 2023 an application to vary the DPS was received to nominate
Roopesh Kapoor to the role. As allowed by legislation this change took place
with immediate effect and the current premises licence which allows for the
sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises is attached as APPENDIX I.
It has been noticed that the opening hours for the premises are not in
accordance with the permitted hours for the sale of alcohol and the licence
can be amended accordingly as permitted by the Licensing Act 2003 as an
administrative error has occurred.

The Licensing Act 2003 allows for a period of 14 days from the date that the

DPS variation application is received in which the police can lodge an
objection. The police may object to the designation of a new premises

Page 6



3.5

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

supervisor where, in exceptional circumstances, they believe that the
appointment would undermine the crime prevention objective.

An objection to Roopesh Kapoor being DPS at the premises has been
received from Kent police citing the same reasons as to why this review
application has been served. Their objection is the subject of a separate
report to the Licensing Sub-Committee.

The Review Application

An application for a review of the premises licence was received on 17t
August 2023 from PC lan Pickett 12274 on behalf of Kent Police.

It is a requirement of the Licensing Act 2003, that the licensing authority
advertise the review application, inviting representations from any responsible
authority or interested party. The application has been correctly advertised
with notices posted at the premises, on the council website and the council
offices for the required period of 28 days.

The grounds for the review are the failure of the premises licence holder to
promote the licensing objectives of: prevention of crime and disorder and
protection of children from harm and breaches of the premises licence
conditions. The review application is attached as APPENDIX II.

Witness statements and supporting evidence have been submitted by the
following police officers:

a) PC lan Pickett — shown as APPENDIX llI
b) PC Andre Smuts — shown as APPENDIX IV

As part of the review application the Police ask for the following:
Revocation of the Premises Licence

Members are advised that they may only modify premises licences if it is
appropriate to promote the licensing objectives.

5 Representations

5.1

5.2

At any stage during the 28-day consultation period a responsible authority, a
Councillor or an interested party may make representations provided that the
grounds are relevant to the licensing objectives and are not deemed
vexatious, frivolous or repetitive.

There have been 3 representations from responsible authorities and 15 from
interested parties as shown below:

Page 7



6.1

6.2

6.3

v

a) Swale BC licensing team leader acting as a responsible authority in
support of the review application— shown as APPENDIX V

b) Kent Trading Standards in support of the review application— shown as
APPENDIX VI

c) 15 representations have been received from interested parties some of
which are support of the review application and others which support the
licence holder— shown as APPENDIX VII

Determining the application — Options of the Licensing sub-

Committee

Members must, having regard to the application and any relevant

representations, take such steps mentioned below as they consider
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. The steps are:

To take no action;

To issue a warning or caution;

To modify the conditions of the licence;

To exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
To remove the designated premises supervisor;

To suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months;
To revoke the licence.

Relevant sections of the Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing

Act 2003 that Members should take into account are:

Chapter 2

Licensing Objectives

Chapter 10 Conditions attached to Premises Licences and Club Premises

Certificates

Chapter 11 Reviews

Members should also take into account relevant policy statements as

contained in the Swale BC Statement of Licensing Policy 2021 — 2026
including specifically section 14: Review of Premises Licence or Club
Premises Certificates. This is attached as APPENDIX VIII.

Implications

Issue

Implications

Corporate Plan

There are links to Priority 3 — Tackling deprivation and creating
equal opportunities for everyone. Point 3.4 states “Ensure that the
council plays a proactive role in reducing crime and anti-social
behaviour including through the modernisation of CCTV provision.

Page 8




Financial,
Resource and
Property

There are no direct financial requirements at this time. There is
the possibility of a challenge by way of an appeal.

Legal, Statutory
and Procurement

Under the Licensing Act 2003 the Licensing Authority has a duty to
exercise licensing control of relevant premises.

The Licensing Sub-Committee is obliged to determine this
application with a view to promoting the four licensing objectives.

In making its decision, the Licensing Sub-Committee is also
obliged to have regards to the S182 Guidance that accompanies
the Licensing Act 2003 and the council’s Statement of Licensing
Policy.

The Licensing Sub-Committee must also have proper regard to the
Human Rights Act 1998 in respect to the rights of an individual
when making decisions that affect them. However, it also has to
have regard to the safety and protection of the public and therefore
to ensure that the right balance is found.

Crime and
Disorder

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act requires local authorities
to consider the crime and disorder implications of their decisions
and it is the Licensing Authority’s responsibility to co-operate in the
reduction of crime and disorder in the Borough.

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 states:

“Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on it, it shall be the
duty of each authority to which this section applies to exercise its various
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it can reasonably can to prevent
crime and disorder in its area”.

Environment and
Climate/Ecological

No implications

Emergency
Health and Anti-social behaviour and noise nuisance can impact on the
Wellbeing wellbeing of nearby residents

Safeguarding of
Children, Young
People and
Vulnerable Adults

The protection of children from harm is one of the 4 licensing
objectives that underpin the Licensing Act 2003 and must be
considered when making decisions on licence applications.

Risk Management
and Health and
Safety

Departure from the Guidance and Statement of Licensing Policy
could lead to an increased risk of appeal. Similarly, if any decision
made is not evidence based and proportionate

Equality and
Diversity

No implications

Privacy and Data
Protection

Normal privacy and data protection rules apply

Page 9




8.1

Appendices

The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of
the report:

Appendix I: Current premises licence — ref: SIT/SWALE/189/0222
Appendix Il: Review Application

Appendix lll: Witness Statement PC lan Pickett

Appendix IV: Witness Statement PC Andre Smuts

Appendix V: Representation Swale BC Licensing Team Leader acting as a
responsible authority

Appendix VI: Representation from Oliver Jewell, Kent Trading Standards
Appendix VII: Representations from interested parties

Appendix VIII: Extract of Swale BC Statement of Licensing Policy 2021 -
2026

Background Papers

Licensing Act 2003

Home Office Guidance issued under s.182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (as
amended)

Swale BC Statement of Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026

Page 10



APPENDIX |

24/08/2023

&) Swale

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Swale Borough Council, Swale House, East Street,
Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Premises licence number
SIT/SWALE/189/0222

Part 1 — Premises details

Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description

Hawthorn Road Off Licence
16 Hawthorn Road

Post town | Sittingbourne, Kent Post code | ME10 1BB

Telephone number | 01795 428847

Where the licence is time limited the dates

No Limitation

Licensable activities authorised by the licence

Sale of Alcohol

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities

Monday — Saturday: 08:00 — 23:00

Sunday: 10:00 — 22:30
Good Friday: 08:00 — 22:30
Christmas Day: 12:00 — 15:00 & 19:00 — 22:30

The opening hours of the premises

Monday — Sunday: 10:30 — 22:30
Christmas Day/Boxing Day/ New Year’s Day: Closed

SIT/0222 Pageill




APPENDIX |

24/08/2023

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and/or off
supplies

Off the premises

Part 2

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and e-mail (where relevant) of holder of
premises licence

Mr Roopesh Kapoor
16 Hawthorn Road
Sittingbourne

Kent

ME10 1BB

Tel No: 07962 355055

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where
applicable)

N/A

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the
premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol

Mr Roopesh Kapoor
16 Hawthorn Road
Sittingbourne

Kent

ME10 1BB

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated
premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol

Licence No: SWALE-PL-0183

Issued by: Swale Borough Council

SIT/0222 Page 12




APPENDIX |

24/08/2023
Annex 1 — Mandatory Conditions

Condition 1
No supply of alcohol maybe made under this licence:-
(a) At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of it or

(b) At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or
his/her personal licence is suspended.

Every retail sale or supply of alcohol made under this licence must be made or authorised by a
person who holds a personal licence.

Condition 9
(1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age
verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of

alcohol.

(2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that
the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification

policy.

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18
years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request,
before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and
either—

(a) a holographic mark, or
(b) an ultraviolet feature.

Condition 11

(1) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off
the premises for a price, which is less than the permitted price.

(2) For the purpose of the condition set out in paragraph 1:-
(a)“duty” is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979(6);
(b) “permitted price” is the price found by applying the formula:- P =D + (D x V) where:-
(i) P isthe permitted price,

(i) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were
charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and

(ii) Vis the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value
added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;

SIT/0222 Pagesl3



APPENDIX |

24/08/2023
(c)“relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
premises licence:-

(i) the holder of the premises licence
(i) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or

(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such
a licence;

(d)“relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and

(e)“value added tax” means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added
Tax Act 1994(7)

(3) Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph (2) would (apart from this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall
be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest

penny.

(4) (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of
paragraph (2) on a day (“the first day”) would be different from the permitted price on
the next day (“the second day”) as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value
added tax.

(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the
second day.

SIT/0222 Page 14



APPENDIX |

24/08/2023
Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the Operating Schedule

Condition 1

(a) A CCTV system will be installed, or the existing system maintained, such system to be
fit for the purpose.

(b) The CCTV system shall be capable of producing immediate copies of recordings on site.
Copies of recordings will either be recorded on good quality videotape or digitally onto
CD/DVD or other equivalent medium.

(c) Any recording shall be retained and stored in a suitable and secure manner for a
minimum of 28 days and shall be available, subject to compliance with the Data
Protection legislation, to the Police or Officers of the Licensing Authority on request.

(d) The CCTV system will incorporate a camera covering the entrance door and the
licensed areas and will be capable of providing an image which is regarded as
identification standard. The precise positions of the cameras may be agreed, subject to
compliance with Data Protection legislation, with Police from time to time.

(e) The system will display, on any recording, the correct time and date of the recording.

(f) A system will be in place to maintain the quality of the recorded image and a complete
audit trail maintained.

(g) The CCTV system will be maintained so as to be fully operational throughout the hours
that the premises are open for any licensable activity.

(h) Appropriate signage informing customers CCTV is in operation to be displayed.
Signage informing customers that they will be asked to produce age identification when
purchasing alcohol to be displayed.

Condition 2
(a) A refusal/incident book will be kept with details of refusal, time, day and date of event.

(b) Challenge 21 shall be adopted and relevant signs displayed.

(c) The premises will be an active member of the Swale Safe radio system

SIT/0222 Pagesl5



APPENDIX |

24/08/2023

Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority

N/A

SIT/0222 Page 16



APPENDIX |
24/08/2023

t

.

TN D o

e e A ————— b

SouArss oy d

E

ettt e e

£,

e

LN

3
r

T'.' al

d A

 rar AL —— —a et

L e T

-

A B S

Annex 4 - Plans

o r———

Ao

-

AT 2 -.”

Page77

SIT/0222



This page is intentionally left blank



Official (when complete) APPENDIX I

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate under the Licensing Act 2003

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form. If you are
completing this form by hand please write legibly in block capitals. In all cases ensure that your
answers are inside the boxes and written in black ink. Use additional sheets if necessary.

You may wish to keep a copy of the completed form for your records.

I, PC Ian Pickett apply for the review of a premises licence under Section 51of the Licensing Act 2003
for the premises described in part | below

Part 1 — Premises or club premises details

Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference or description

Best One
16 Hawthorn Road

Post town Post code (if known)
Sittingbourne ME10 1BB

Name of premises licence holder or club holding club premises certificate (if known)

Mr Roopesh Kapoor

Number of premises licence or club premises certificate (if known)
SIT/SWALE/189/0222

Part 2 — Applicant details

Iam
Please tick yes
1) an interested part (please complete (A) or (B) below)

a) a person living in the vicinity of the premises ]
b) a body representing persons living in the vicinity of the premises ]
c) a person involved in business in the vicinity of the premises ]
d) a body representing persons involved in business in the vicinity of ]
the premises
2) a responsible authority (please complete ( C ) below) X

3 a member of the club to which this application relates (please complete (A) below)

Form No. 3489a rev Sep 07 [erev 1/08] v1

Kent Police : Partnership & Crime Reduction P e 19
Policy M1 1? g

Official (when complete)



Official (when complete)

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate under the Licensing Act 2003

(A) DETAILS OF INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (fill in a applicable)

Please tick

Mr [] Mrs [] Miss [] Ms [] Othertitle[ ]
(for example, Rev)

Surname First names

Please tick yes
I am 18 years old or over L]

Current postal
address if
different form
premises
address

Post town Post Code

Daytime contact telephone number

E-mail address (optional) \

(B) DETAILS OF OTHER APPLICANT

Name and address

Telephone number (if any)

E-mail address (optional)

Kent Police : Partnership & Crime Reduction P ?]ge 2 0
Policy M

Form No. 3489a rev Sep 07 [erev 1/08] v1

Official (when complete)



Official (when complete)

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate under the Licensing Act 2003

(C) DETAILS OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY APPLICANT

Name and address

PC Ian Pickett 12274
North Kent Licensing Team
Medway Police Station
Purser Way

Gillingham

ME7 1NE

Telephone number (if any) 01634 792276

E-mail address (optional) ian.pickett@kent.police.uk

This application to review relates to the following licensing objective(s)
Please tick one or more boxes

1) the prevention of crime and disorder
2) public safety

3) the prevention of public nuisance

X OOKX

4) the protection of children from harm

Please state the ground(s) for review (please read guidance note 1)

Kent Police provide evidence of Best One, 16 Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne failing to promote the
licensing objectives relating to the prevention of crime and disorder and the protection of children
from harm.

Kent Police will also evidence breaches of the premises licence.

Kent Police : Partnership & Crime Reduction P e 2 1
Policy M1 1? g

Form No. 3489a rev Sep 07 [erev 1/08] v1

Official (when complete)



Official (when complete)

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate under the Licensing Act 2003

Please provide as much information as possible to support the application
(please read guidance note 2)

Best One, 16 Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne is a convenience store, authorised to sell alcohol as
follows:-

Monday — Saturday: 08:00 — 23:00

Sunday: 10:00 — 22:30

Good Friday: 08:00 — 22:30

Christmas Day: 12:00 — 15:00 & 19:00 — 22:30

The premises is situated in a residential area, with a barbers next door and is located a short walk
from the town centre.

The Premises licence holder is Roopesh Kapoor and the designated premises supervisor is Vijay
Kapoor.

The premises licence granted by Swale council has mandatory conditions, as well as conditions on
the operating schedule as follows:-

Condition 1

(a) A CCTV system will be installed, or the existing system maintained, such system to be fit for the
purpose.

(b) The CCTV system shall be capable of producing immediate copies of recordings on site. Copies
of recordings will either be recorded on good quality videotape or digitally onto CD/DVD or other
equivalent medium.

(c) Any recording shall be retained and stored in a suitable and secure manner for a minimum of 28
days and shall be available, subject to compliance with the Data Protection legislation, to the Police
or Officers of the Licensing Authority on request.

(d) The CCTV system will incorporate a camera covering the entrance door and the licensed areas
and will be capable of providing an image which is regarded as identification standard. The precise
positions of the cameras may be agreed, subject to compliance with Data Protection legislation, with
Police from time to time.

(e) The system will display, on any recording, the correct time and date of the recording.

(f) A system will be in place to maintain the quality of the recorded image and a complete audit trail
maintained.

(g) The CCTV system will be maintained so as to be fully operational throughout the hours that the
premises are open for any licensable activity.

(h) Appropriate signage informing customers CCTV is in operation to be displayed. Signage informing
customers that they will be asked to produce age identification when purchasing alcohol to be
displayed.

Condition 2

(a) A refusal/incident book will be kept with details of refusal, time, day and date of event.
(b) Challenge 21 shall be adopted and relevant signs displayed.

(c) The premises will be an active member of the Swale Safe radio system

This premises has had a number of reports of age restricted sales to persons under 18, however at
this time, no confirmed sales have taken place from the premises prior to June 2023. There has
also been unconfirmed reports of the premises, buying stolen products to sell within the store.

Kent Police : Partnership & Crime Reduction P ?]ge 2 2
Policy M

Form No. 3489a rev Sep 07 [erev 1/08] v1

Official (when complete)



Official (when complete)

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate under the Licensing Act 2003

Kent police received information regarding allegations of age restricted sales to persons under 18,
with the premises licence holder given a written request in July 2023 to provide CCTV footage for
6 time periods over four different dates between 23th June and 4% July 2023.

Mr Kapoor, the premises licence holder subsequently informed Kent police that the CCTV hard
drive recording system had not been working but had since been replaced the hard drive with a
new system, with the old recording unit, being disposed of.

The premises licence holder assured Kent police that the new system was in full working order.

On 27 July 2023, Kent police, in company with Swale licensing officers and Trading Standards
officer, attended the premises where a licensing visit was conducted. Upon entry, a male known to
Kent police was present at the counter.

Mr Kapoor admitted during this visit that the DPS, Vijay Kapoor had retired and had not worked at
the premises for several years. Condition 1 of the premises licence clearly states:

No supply of alcohol maybe made under this licence:-

(a) At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of it or

(b) At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or his/her
personal licence is suspended.

Every retail sale or supply of alcohol made under this licence must be made or authorised by a
person who holds a personal licence.

Whilst Kent Police have not witnessed a sale of alcohol when visiting the premises, we can confirm
that alcohol is displayed and available for purchase. Any sale of alcohol made since the retirement
of the DPS several years ago would be a breach. Swale Council licensing dealt with this by issuing

the premises licence holder with a S.19 notice, which was later rescinded after contact from Vijay

Kapoor confirming he was resuming his previous role of DPS.

Trading Standards officer present seized a total of 86 illegal vape products, as well as identifying a
product containing Isopropyl Nitrate which can be sold as a room odouriser, but is also used as a
“popper”, but advised that the product can have dangerous side effects if taken without
appropriate guidance.

During the visit, Mr Kapoor could not operate the CCTV system correctly, allowing Kent police to
see that the CCTV was recording as well as to confirm if any sales of age restricted products had
occurred before our arrival. Also, with the knowledge of the male known to Kent police being
present at time of our attendance, Kent police asked for footage to be provided. However Mr
Kapoor then subsequently advised all footage prior to 5" August had been deleted accidentally.

During visits by Kent police in November 2022, March 2023 & July 2023 the premises licence
holder presented the refusal book, which appeared to be have long periods where no refusals
were made, entries where the premises was closed or entries had been filled in restrospectively.

Kent police currently have no faith in the premises licence holder that he will ensure that the
licensing objectives are upheld. CCTV is a measure that Kent police would expect to be in working
order and available for review at a premises of this type, and given the reasons of hard drive not
recording and footage being deleted, Kent police are of the opinion that the premises had reason
to not provide footage.

The premises licence holder has admitted that the DPS has not been working at the premises for
several years, however the DPS advised after the joint agency visit on 27" July, he would be
undertaking the role again, however despite Kent police attending on at least 4 separate occasions
to the premises since 27t July, the DPS has not been in attendance at any time, leaving the

Form No. 3489a rev Sep 07 [erev 1/08] v1

Kent Police : Partnership & Crime Reduction P e 23
Policy M1 1? g

Official (when complete)



Official (when complete)

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate under the Licensing Act 2003

premises in the hands of the premises licence holder, which as stated previously, Kent police do
not have any faith in the premises going forward. It seemingly appears that Vijay Kapoor has not
resumed the role of DPS and is not in day-to-day control of the premises, and the suggestion that
he had resumed in that capacity was to satisfy the local authority and have the S.19 notice
rescinded.

It is the understanding of Kent Police that Mr Roopesh Kapoor is currently undertaking the process
of obtaining a personal licence with a view to becoming DPS. Kent Police have no faith in his ability
to perform the role and promote the licensing objectives.

Kent police ask that the licensing sub-committee review the evidence provided, giving
consideration to the seizure of illegal vapes found on the premises, to the alleged sales of aged
restricted products to children at this premises and the reasons given by the premises licence
holder for the lack of CCTV, the incomplete entries in the refusals book, the admissions made that
the premises operated for a significant period without an active DPS and lack of evidence that DPS
has been in the premises since resuming the role.

Kent police concerns regarding this premises would not be alleviated by a change of DPS or
addition of premises licence condition and therefore seek revocation of the premises licence.

Form No. 3489a rev Sep 07 [erev 1/08] v1

Kent Police : Partnership & Crime Reduction P ?]ge 24
Policy M

Official (when complete)



Official (when complete)

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate under the Licensing Act 2003

Please tick yes
Have you made an application for review relating to this premises before ]

If yes please state the date of that application
Day Month Year

If you have made representations before relating to this premises please state what
they were and when you made them

Form No. 3489a rev Sep 07 [erev 1/08] v1

Kent Police : Partnership & Crime Reduction P e 25
Policy M1 1? g

Official (when complete)



Official (when complete)

Application for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate under the Licensing Act 2003

Please tick yes
= I have sent copies of this form and enclosures to the =
responsible authorities and the premises licence holder or
club holding the club premises certificate, as appropriate
= I understand that if I do not comply with the above =
requirements my application will be rejected

IT IS AN OFFENCE, LIABLE ON CONVICTION TO A FINE UP TO LEVEL 5 ON THE
STANDARD SCALE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003 TO MAKE A FLASE
STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION

Part 3 — Signatures (please read guidance note 3)

Signature of applicant or applicant’s solicitor or other duly authorised agent
(See guidance note 4). If signing on behalf of the applicant please state in what capacity.

Signature: PC Ian Pickett 12274
Date 17 August 2023
Capacity Licensing Officer, Kent Police.

Contact name (where not previously given) and postal address for correspondence
associated with this application (please read guidance note 5)

Post town Post code

Telephone number (if any)

If you would prefer us to correspond with you using an e mail address your e mail
address (optional)

Notes for Guidance

1. The ground(s) for review must be based on one of the licensing objectives.

2. Please list any additional information or details for example dates of problems which
are included in the grounds for review if available.

3. The application form must be signed.

4. An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided
that they have actual authority to do so.

5. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application.

Kent Police : Partnership & Crime Reduction P ?]ge 2 6
Policy M

Form No. 3489a rev Sep 07 [erev 1/08] v1

Official (when complete)



APPENDIX 1l
MG11

OFFICIAL

WITNESS STATEMENT
Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9; Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B

URN |46 |

Statement of: Ian Pickett PC 12274
Age if under 18: Over 18 (if over 18 insert ‘over 18") Occupation: Police officer

This statement (consisting of 8 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief
and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully
stated in it, anything which I know to be false or do not believe to be true.

Signature: Ian Pickett PC 12274 Date: 15 August 2023

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded [ (supply witness detaits on rear)
This statement is being made in relation to my visits to Best One store, 16 Hawthorn Road,

Sittingbourne, Kent and my interactions with the premises licence holder, Roopesh Kapoor and the
designated premises supervisor, Vijay Kapoor.

I have been a police officer for 21 years and carried out the role of a police licensing officer for 2
years, all within Kent police, working for the North Division licensing team.

This premises currently has a premises licence for the sale of alcohol, granted by Swale council which
was last been amended in 2017, according to our police database, which apart from the mandatory
conditions, also had conditions on the operating schedule in relation to CCTV, use of refusals log,

Challenge 21 and member of Swale Safe radio system.

Prior to March 2023, I was aware of a visit made by my colleague, PC Smuts at the premises in
November 2022.

This premises has a number of reports of sales of age restricted products from the premises, to under
age persons however as far as I am aware, none have been substantiated by means of witness

statement, CCTV or other means.

I am aware of previous visits by Trading standards where test purchases have been attempted, but

no sale was made.

On 3" March 2023, I attended the Best One store, in order to investigate information that a juvenile

had purchased age restricted products at the store on 4" February 2023 between 0900-1200 hours.

Signature:  Ian Pickett PC 12274 Signature witnessed by:  N/A
Kent Police MG11 |'em-v APR 2020 PMUDGG!SQQI
Page 27

e S ——————————————————————————— e



RESTRICTED (when complete) MG11 (Cont)

Continuation page 2 URN |46 | |

Continuation statement of:  Ian Pickett PC 12274
Mr Roopesh Kapoor was present and denied any sales, stating he would have been closed at the times

I asked about as the premises did not open until 1200 hours. A sign on the front door of the premises,
showing times that the premises was open, was on display, showing that the premises was open from
1200-2000 hours, Monday to Saturday. I took a photograph of this sign which I exhibit as IWP/1.

I asked to see the refusals book, which Mr Kapoor provided and saw that the last entry was 25%
January 2023. I took photographs of the last two pages, which I exhibit as IWP/2 & IWP/3.

When I asked Mr Kapoor why there was such a long time, since the last entry in the book, considering
it was now 3" March, he told me this was how it was. While I was in the premises, two young females
came into the store, and asked to buy a vape product however when challenged for identification by
Mr Kapoor, the two females then left, without any products.

After my attendance at the store, I was provided CCTV footage by Mr Kapoor which showed the
premises was closed on 4" February between 0900-1200 hours, so believed the information I had
been provided was incorrect.

On 6% July I was made aware by a colleague, PC Topham of a number of dates in relation to alleged
sales of age restricted products from the premises to persons under 18 years of age.

On 14% July, I attended the store and on entering the premises, a male was at the counter and asked
Mr Kapoor for a vape, however there was no sale as this male could provide no identification.

This male was approximately 17-18 years of age.

Once this male had left, I gave Mr Kapoor a letter, detailing what footage I wanted him to provide
from the CCTV system that was in operation within the store. The date range was from 23" June to

4th July 2023, which I believed was well within the 28 days retention period for the premises licence

condition in relation to CCTV.

Signature Ian Pickett PC 12274 Signature witnessed by N/A
Page 2 of 8
Kent Police MG11 [erev 7/07] vi3- File Name : https://k y.sharepoint.com/p fian_pickett_kent_police_uk/Doc /Dex Lic P ises/ One/MG11 PC PICKETT 12274.docx
20061070 RESTRICTED (when complete)
Page 28



RESTRICTED (when complete) MG11 (Cont)

Continuation page 3 URN |46 | |

Continuation statement of:  Ian Pickett PC 12274
The dates and times within the letter, were provided with a view to being proportionate and not too

onerous on Mr Kapoor, however I believed were specific enough to allow footage that was provided
to allow me to investigate each date, in order to confirm if a sale had taken place.

A copy of this letter I exhibit as IWP/4.

Mr Kapoor also told me during my attendance at the store, that he was not at fault, believing that
proxy sales to under age persons by another person was a factor, as well as blaming parents buying
for their children as well as on line sales.

I again asked to see the refusals register, which had been recorded on a loose, plain piece of paper
with the last entry of 30 June. I took a photograph of this page at the time of my attendance, which
I exhibit as IWP/5. I advised Mr Kapoor to obtain a new refusals book, in order that any future entries
are recorded and retained properly. |

On 18% July 2023, Mr Kapoor contacted me regarding provision of CCTV, stating there had been an
issue accessing the footage and his CCTV engineer was due to attend later that day, in order to access
the system. He again went onto to state other persons were at fault, selling vapes to under age
persons rather than himself. He explained how he had been blamed for litter outside the premises,
which he believed were from fast food restaurants in the local area and not his store. He said he tried
to do the right thing, by removing the packaging from vapes, both cellophane and box, so that these
were not dropped by persons when they left the store.

On 19™ July, Mr Kapoor text to advise me that the CCTV engineer had not attended on 18" July and
was due to attend later that day so he would update me when the engineer had attended.

On 20% July, I text Mr Kapoor, asking for an update in relation to the CCTV. Mr Kapoor replied, telling
me that the CCTV engineer had not been able to retrieve any recordings, as the hard drive had

stopped working. On trying to call Mr Kapoor, I could not speak with him however I text him to say

that as no CCTV in operation, then no sale of alcohol should occur.

Signature Ian Pickett PC 12274 Signature witnessed by N/A
Page 3 of 8
Kent Police MG11 [erev 7/07} v13— Flle Name : https://kpe;rmysharepolnt.com/personalﬁan_pickett_kentfpolice_uk/r /Doc A Licensing/P ises/Best One/MG11 PC PICKETT 12274.docx
Hooeror RESTRICTED (when complete)
Page 29



RESTRICTED (when complete) MG11 (Cont)

Continuation page 4 URN |46 | |

Continuation statement of:  Ian Pickett PC 12274
On Friday 21% July, Mr Kapoor told me by telephone that the CCTV system had been replaced and

was in working order. When I asked to collect the old hard drive, in order that I could submit the hard
drive to Kent police digital forensics unit for them to analyse, I was told that the hard drive had already
been disposed of.

On 27% July 2023, I was present with PC Topham at Sittingbourne police station, when we then had
cause to attend the Best One store, in company with Oliver Jewell, Trading Standards as well as
Christina Hill and Joanne Thomas from Swale Council licensing team. PC Topham had told me that
there were youths outside the store, with at least one using a vape. With this in mind, I wanted to
review any CCTV from within the store, in order to prove or disprove if the youth had purchased the
vape from the store. I also wanted evidence that the CCTV system was recording correctly.

When we entered the store, a male was stood at the counter, carrying a bag and appeared to be
speaking with Mr Kapoor, with at least one £5 note on the counter. I assumed this male was paying
for an item or items he had purchased.

While within the store, Mr Kapoor was spoken to by Christina Hills regarding the role of DPS and he
admitted that his father, Vijay Kapoor had not worked at the premises for a number of years, having
retired from working at the premises.

Oliver Jewell asked to review products behind the counter and was allowed access by Mr Kapoor.
Once the issue of the DPS had been explained and documentation issued by Christina Hills, Oliver

Jewell stated a number of illegal vapes had been seized by him as well as pointing out other items,

such as small deal bags and behind the counter.

I then spoke to Mr Kapoor, telling him I wanted to review CCTV footage from approximately 1330
hours, however after several attempts, Mr Kapoor was unable to show me the footage, so I asked

him to provide the footage as requested by Wednesday 2" August.

Signature Ian Pickett PC 12274 Signature witnessed by  N/A

Page 4 of 8
Kent Paolice MG11 [erev 7/07] vi3— File Name : https://kpep-my. com/p _pickett_kent_police_uk/Doc /Do Licensing/Premises/Best One/MG11 PC PICKETT 12274.docx
e RESTRICTED (when complete)

Page 30




RESTRICTED (when complete) MG11 (Cont)

Continuation page 5 URN [46 | |

Continuation statement of:  Ian Pickett PC 12274
I also took three photos of the refusals book, which were like before, loose, plain pages, with entries

from 3" July to 26" July. These pages I exhibit as IWP/6, IWP/7 & IWP/8.

After leaving the premises, I was informed by PC Topham that the male at the counter, I had seen
upon entering the premises, was known to him, which then gave me further cause to obtain the CCTV
prior to our visit, in order to clarify what had occurred between Mr Kapoor and this male.

To facilitate Mr Kapoor providing CCTV footage, I sent him a link via the Kent police Digital Asset
Management System (DAMS) to his mobile phone number, following this up with a further text
message, informing him I required footage from both inside and outside the store. This link allows a
premises or member of the public, to submit CCTV footage to Kent police via an online cloud system.
On Wednesday 2™ August, I hand delivered a letter to the premises, detailing how I believed there
had been breaches of the premises licence, in particular to CCTV, however as the premises was not
open, 1 left the letter in the premises post box. Later the same morning, I emailed Mr Kapoor using
an email address, that Mr Kapoor had provided on our visit on 27% July, sending him a copy of the
letter as well as reminding him that no CCTV had been provided by him. A copy of this letter I exhibit
as IWP/9.

Despite telling Mr Kapoor I wanted to obtain CCTV footage by 2" August, I had no reply from him via
the DAMS link or my letter I had hand delivered/sent by email, so on Thursday 3™ August I attended
the premises, where Mr Kapoor was present, however the DPS, Mr Vijay Kapoor was not. I was
advised that the DPS had been in the premises for the last four days, but was now off work and would

be away for four days the next week.

Mr Kapoor advised me that he needed to download the CCTV footage via a USB stick, so told him I

would deliver one in the next few days.

Signature Ian Pickett PC 12274 Signature witnessed by N/A
Page 5 of 8
Kent Police MG11 [erev 7/07] v13~ File Name : https://kpep-my.sharepoint.oom/personaI/Ian_pickett_kent_police_uk/DocumenIs/Documems/A Licensing/Premises/Best One/MG11 PC PICKETT 12274.docx
e RESTRICTED (when complete)
Page 31



RESTRICTED (when complete) MG11 (Cont)

Continuation page 6 URN |46 | |

Continuation statement of:  Ian Pickett PC 12274
On Friday 4th August, I attended the premises and handed a USB stick to Mr Kapoor, making him

aware of the CCTV footage I required, advising him I would return on Wednesday 9% August to collect
the footage. The DPS was not present on this occasion.

On Tuesday 8" August, I returned to work after three rest days, where I found I had received an
email notification, received on 5 August at 16:41 hours, that Mr Kapoor had submitted CCTV evidence
to DAMS, which I then reviewed to find only the outside camera view, overlooking the exit and parking
area outside, had been provided. The footage showed a timing difference, show a start time of
12:33:04, meaning the timing of the CCTV was approximately an hour out.

No other camera views were provided despite what I had requested, so I then intended to visit the
premises on 9" August in order to clarify with Mr Kapoor why only one camera view had been
provided. When I started work on 9% August, I checked my work mobile phone, to find a text from
Mr Kapoor, which I have copied as follows:-

“Hi Mr Pickett, In regards to your request for CCTV on the 27% July I have sent you the footage via
the link you sent me for 20 mins before you arrived. However due to issues I was having with
operating the system (not being technologically minded) only the exit camera was available To send.
However going forward, since then I have to the best of my ability undertaken training on how to
operate the system fully and refreshed myself with the terms of my premises licence conditions. Also
the DBS check has been completed...personal policy training course is being done...and Dps consent

form being completed. Thanks, Roop Kapoor.”

In order to dlarify why only the outside camera was provided, I attended the premises on 9" August
where Mr Kapoor was present but without the DPS. Mr Kapoor told me he had been “messing about”
with the CCTV system, in order to provide me with the relevant footage, when he deleted all footage
prior to 5% August. The CCTV engineer who had installed the new system had then told him what to

do, in order to provide the relevant footage, but it was only then he realised that camera views 2 and

Signature Ian Pickett PC 12274 Signature witnessed by  N/A
Page 6 of 8
Kent Police MG11 [erev 7/07] vi3= File Name : https://kpep-my.sharepoint.com/personal/ian_pickett_kent_police_uk/Documents/I Licensing/F /Best One/MG11 PC PICKETT 12274.docx
200/ RESTRICTED (when complete)
Page 32




RESTRICTED (when complete) MG11 (Cont)

Continuation page 7 URN |46 | |

Continuation statement of: Ian Pickett PC 12274
3 had all been deleted. He also advised me that the timing had been adjusted as this had been wrong

on the previous footage provided.

As the DPS was not present, I asked where he was and Mr Kapoor then told me he had gone away,
leaving on Saturday 5% August, returning on Saturday 12™ August. He also advised me that he had
found two more vapes, which he believed to be illegal had not been taken during our visit on 27" July
so advised him to retain them, to allow a colleague of mine to seize them.

On 14% August, I attended the premises to seize the vapes as my colleague had been unable to assist
with the seizure of the vapes, as well as to confirm if the DPS was present. On approaching the
premises, a male juvenile, approximately 14 years of age, entered the premises ahead of me. This
juvenile asked for a vape, but was refused by Mr Kapoor as he had no identification. Mr Kapoor was
present and handed over two vapes, which I seized. The DPS was not present and Mr Kapoor advised
that the DPS was not well. Mr Kapoor tried to contact him but I was advised he was asleep, so I asked
that the DPS call me when he was awake.

At 1848 hours, I received a phonecall from the DPS, Vijay Kapoor on my work mobile. Mr Vijay Kapoor
confirmed that he was not able to attend the premises, but intended to be back in the premises by
the coming weekend. When I asked the last time, he had been in the premises, he advised it had
been the Saturday before, meaning 5% August. He also told me that he had been away since Tuesday
8t August, returning on Saturday 12" August. He stated that he was aware of his responsibilities as
a DPS as he had been involved in owning premises of this sort for 50 years.

At the time of writing this statement, at no time have I seen Mr Vijay Kapoor within the premises.
No CCTV has been provided from the premises, with the premises licence holder, Mr Roopesh Kapoor
providing different reasons as to why this was not provided.

On review of the different pages of the refusals logs, anomalies have come to light, such as on my

visit on 14% July, I took a photo of the refusal log (IWP/5), which showed the last entry of 30th June,
Signature Ian Pickett PC 12274 Signature witnessed by  N/A

Page 7 of 8

fDoc! /A Licensing/Premises/Best One/MG11 PC PICKETT 12274.docx

Kent Police MG11 [erev 7/07] vi3— File Name : hitps://kpep-my.sharepoint.com/personalfian_pickett_kent_police_uk/Doc

2one17c) RESTRICTED (when complete)
Page 33




RESTRICTED (when complete) MG11 (Cont)

URN [46 | |

Continuation page 8

Continuation statement of:  Ian Pickett PC 12274
however when I attended on 27" July and took further photos of the refusal log, there were two

entries dated 3™ July on the first page (IWP/6), meaning these entries were added retrospectively
after my visit.

Also, on the refusal log (IWP/5) there are two entries dates 11% June, however on checking this date
in 2023, this is a Sunday and Mr Kapoor has told me the premises does not open and this was
confirmed by sign on the door (IWP/1) during my visit in March.

During both my visits and the visit by PC Smuts, there have been extended periods where no refusals
have occurred however on several of my visits to the premises, there have been persons either in the
premises or entering the premises, with a view to purchasing age restricted products, who were

refused. As such, I would have expected that the gaps between each refusal would be days, rather

than weeks.
Signature 1an Pickett PC 12274 Signature witnessed by N/A
Page 8 of 8
Kent Police MG11 [erev 7/07] v13— File Name : https://kpep-my.sharepolnt.com/personal/ian_pickett_kent_police_uk/Doc /Dor Licensing/Premi One/MG11 PC PICKETT 12274.docx
20D RESTRICTED (when complete)

Page 34




BEST ONE OPENING HOURS IWP/1

NEW OPENING HOURS

~ MON - 12pm till 8pm
TUES - 12pm tlll 8pm
WED - 12pm tij 8pm

THURS 12pm till 8pm

FRI-12pm, till 8pm

SAT - 12pm till 8pm




REFUSALS LOG 3rd MARCH 2023 IWP/2

S L Ig
S :‘:7”9 F | Unger(18//

'. _ - .

o 1@ 0% Sl

bt (F)] Under((B ! 25 | 4




REFUSALS LOG 3rd MARCH 2023 IWP/3

j Undar{1 G i

{{Uader (8} (3

| Unas ﬁ?&’ 195
'w<ff?3 o

Unge

Under{ 8)
| Unge-{8 *%25_{1_
i Jnde ( §.222% {@wi

a};

1 P
:’_er {

Yoo
[V RS PRI 12

,é:‘ﬁ.
{o
0 3

Lot




LETTER TO MR KAPOOR HAND DELIVERED ON 14/07/2023 IWP/4

Kent Protecting and serving the people of Kent

Medway Police Station
Purser Way
Gillingham

Kent

ME71NE

Tel: 07980700435

134 July 2023

Dear Mr Kapoor

I am writing to request CCTV footage for the following dates for your premises, Best One, 16 Hawthorn
Road, Sittingbourne, Kent.

23/06/23 - 12:05-12:25

26/06/23 - 12:00-12:20 & 15:50-16:10
01/07/23 - 18:45-19:15

04/07/23 -12:00-12:20 & 16:15-16:35

This request is in relation to allegations of sales of age restricted products at your premises on the
dates and times concerned.

As there are a number of dates, I can send you a link via email or text in order that these are uploaded
without the need for a USB stick or dist. Please can the CCTV be direct from your CCTV system and not

recorded by another device from a computer or phone screen.

[ will remind you that failure to provide the relevant CCTV footage will be in breach of a condition on
your premises licence and may result in enforcement action by Kent police which could lead to a full

review of the premises licence.

Please let me know if you require a link to be sent to you, for the CCTV to be provided.

Your sincerely

—

o Mﬁumlw
PC lan Pickett 12274

Licensing Hub
Strategic Prevention Command

Page 38




REFUSALS LOG 14TH JULY 2023 IWP/5

f
A{‘(‘}’k(’( /V&.fl_ S
=S

Ve pE




REFUSALS LOG 27TH JULY 2023 IWP/6

e R ] e T

(FHE 615 mlE ‘
(Ht 1615 m o <y
/?/; 695 o L : B C
/fg/?‘ /6{5‘ M/F@ . iy \y \ <
REd o ol st A .
RS X
— Page40 ‘

-_



REFUSALS LOG 27TH JULY 2023 IWP/7

| & -0

liSea= F

(S 45 — F@ -

? qu" =01 ‘0 ‘1 Y f (x"} =L PO D

Lol — 1641 — F -  ~NoTo
2. 55 ey

g T
B s o

rd

-

- ®




REFUSALS LOG 27TH JULY 2023 IWP/8

Page 42




LETTER TO MR KAPOOR 01/08/2023 IWP/9

A Kent Protecting and serving the people of Kent
* Police

Medway Police Station
Purser Way
Gillingham

Kent

ME71NE

Tel: 01634 792733

Licensing.north.division@kent.police.uk

1st August 2023

Dear Mr Kapoor

On 14t July 2023 1 made a visit to your premises and hand delivered a letter, detailing what dates 1
required of CCTV footage in relation to alleged sales of age restricted products. After this visit, [ spoke
with you on 18t July to confirm if CCTV was available, during which you advised me that the engineer
would be visiting later that day however returned on 19t July and found that the system had not been
recording and so a replacement hard drive was to be installed, however the correct length cable was not
available so one ordered from Amazon. Despite you knowing that I wanted the relevant CCTV footage,
it was not until 20t July when I made contact with you that I was made aware by text that the hard drive
had not been recording. It was not until 215t July that I spoke with you, in order to clarify the issue of the

hard drive not recording footage.

Despite your reasoning that there was no way of you knowing of the failure of the hard drive and this
should be taken in mitigation, if I refer to condition 1 part g of the operating schedule for the premises
licence for your store, this states “the system should be maintained so as to be fully operational throughout

the hours that the premises are open for any licensable activity.”

Also, when I visited the premises with Swale licensing and trading standards on 27t July 2023, you could
not work the CCTV correctly and as such, believe you would not be able to provide CCTV footage as
condition 1 part b states “The CCTV system shall be capable of producing immediate copies of recordings
on site. Copies of recordings will either be recorded on good quality videotape or digitally onto CD/DVD or

other equivalent medium”.

A CCTV link was sent later on 27t July to yourself to provide CCTV footage prior to our visit on 27t July
from 1330 hours, however at the time of writing this letter, no CCTV footage has been received.

I must remind you that the premises licence conditions are there for you as the premises licence holder
to ensure they are complied with. I would urge you to ensure that you refresh yourself with what the
conditions are and ensure full compliance going forwards. Any failure to comply with premises licence
conditions could result in enforcement action by Kent police and could lead to a full review of the

premises licence.

If you have any questions or concern, then please feel free to contact the North Division Licensing Unit
using either the telephone number or email address above.

Your sincerely

PC Ian Pickett 12274
Licensing Hub
Strategic Prevention Command

Page 43

—_—



This page is intentionally left blank



MG11

OFFICIAL

WITNESS STATEMENT
Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16.2; Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9; Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980, s.5B

URN |46 | |

Statement of: PC 11250 Andre SMUtS...cccimmieummmemmmmsmemsmsmnsss s snssnsnssnsnnnssnsnnnns
Age if under 18: Over 18 (if over 18 insert ‘over 18’) Occupation: Constable.......cccceeens

This statement (consisting of 2 page(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief
and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully
stated in it, anything which I know to be false or do not believe to be true.

Signature: PC 11250 A. SmMUtS....ccccimmmmrmsrasnasnasnans Date: 15 August 2023...........

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded [ ] (supply witness details on rear)

On Friday 4th November 2022, approximately 1945 hours I was on duty, in plain clothes when I
attended Best One Off Licence, 16 Hawthorne Rd, Sittingbourne. Upon arrival I introduced myself to
a male I now know to be Mr Roopesh KAPOOR. He confirmed to me that he was the manager and
premises licence holder and that he was the only person who worked at the shop. The reason why I
wished to ascertain this detail was to determine whom would have been responsible in allegedly
selling nicotine products to underage children. This information which had been received from
colleagues at Swale Council Licensing Dept. was the reason for my visit to the shop.

After I informed him of the reason for visit and he explained he would always check IDs of anyone
buying alcohol, cigarettes and vapes. On occasion he has parents entering the shop with their children
buying them vapes in the mistaken belief that it is not harmful. He produced a list of purchases with
dates and times of parents buying vapes for their children, the last entry was being 01/10/22. He
recently had a parent coming in demanding why he had sold their child a vape. He asked the parent
to produce the child so he could ask them. The child was brought in, and they changed their story
saying that their older friend had bought it for them, but they had not wanted to get them into trouble.
I then inspected and signed off the shop’s refusal register, it's last entry being on 20/09/22. As this

entry was made a month and a half (45 days) before my visit I advised KAPOOR re keeping the

Signature: Signature witnessed by:

Kent Police MG11 [erev APR 2020 PM00062599



RESTRICTED (when complete) MG11 (Cont)

Continuation page 2 URN [46 | |

Continuation statement of:

register up to date.

KAPOOR then showed me his fully working CCTV which covered the whole shop. KAPOOR mentioned
the likelihood of the shop being converted into residential flats in the near future as he had been
granted planning permission. He also said that he only operates between 1100 and 2000 daily due to
a lack of business.

I concluded the visit informing him that he should carry out his business with the licensing objectives
in mind and reiterating that the Authority, Kent Police and Trading Standards were going to monitor

the premises going forward.

Signature Signature witnessed by

Page 2 of 2

Kent Police MG11 [erev 7/07] v13— File Name : https://kpep-my.sharepoint.com/personal/ian_pickett_kent_police_uk/Documents/Documents/A Licensing/Premises/Best One/MG11 PC SMUTS 11250 15 08

2023.docx
00 RESTRICYZD {wtian complete)




APPENDIX V

Lorraine Crowley

From: Licensing (SBC)
Subject: APPENDIX V

From: Chris Hills <ChrisHills@Swale.gov.uk>

Sent: 07 September 2023 16:52

To: Licensing (SBC) <Licensing@swale.gov.uk>

Subject: Best One, 16 Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 1BB

Good afternoon

| refer to the application made by Kent Police for a review of the premises licence granted under the Licensing Act
2003 in respect of Best One off-licence, 16 Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 1BB —reference

SIT/SWALE/189/0222.

Acting in the role as a responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003, | wish to make a representation in
support of the review application on the grounds that the premises licence holder Roopesh Kapoor has failed to
comply with a mandatory condition on the premises licence, namely that for a period of approximately 3 years there
was no Designated Premises Supervisor at the premises to authorise all sales of alcohol and to be in day to day

management control of the premises.

To support my representation, | attach a witness statement and 3 exhibits.

Yours sincerely
Christina Hills
Christina Hills

Licensing Team Leader
Tel: 01795 447286 | Email: chrishills@swale.gov.uk | Website: www.swale.gov.uk

Swale Borough Council | Swale House | East Street | Sittingbourne | Kent | MELO 3HT

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity
they are addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify postmaster(@swale.gov.uk

Page 47



RESTRICTED (when complete)

WITNESS STATEMENT
(Criminal Procedure Rules 2015, r16.2; Criminal Justice Act 1967 s.9),

Page 1 of 3

Statement of: Christina Hills

Age if under 18: OVER 18 Occupation: Licensing Team Leader

This statement consisting of 3 pages each signed by me, is true to the best of my knowledge
and belief and | make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, | shall be liable to prosecution
if | have wilfully stated in it anything which | know to be false or do not believe to be true.

| am the above-named person and | am employed by Swale Borough Council as Licensing
Team Leader. This statement is being made in relation to a visit to Best One off-licence, 16
Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 1BB and my interaction with the premises licence

holder, Roopesh Kapoor.

| have been a licensing officer since 2005 and have been employed by Swale Borough

Council for 6 years.

Best One off-licence has the benefit of a premises licence granted under the Licensing Act
since 2005. The licence is to allow the sale of alcohol off the premises. The licence was last
amended in 2017 and the persons responsible for the operation of the premises are Roopesh
Kapoor who is the premises licence holder and Vijay Kapoor who is the Designated Premises
Supervisor (DPS). The role of the DPS is to have day to day management control of the

licensed premises.

Prior to July 2023 the licensing team had been made aware of a number of complaints made
to Kent Police and to Trading Standards, mainly regarding allegations of sales of tobacco

products and vapes to underage persons but also to the sale of alcohol to underage persons.

Signature: Dated: 7" September 2023

Page 48



Page 2 of 3

It is my understanding that officers from Trading Standards had previously carried out test

purchase operations at the store but that no sales were made.

On 4t November 2022 the premises were visited by PC 11250 Andre Smuts following a request
by myself to see if there may be any basis to these allegations. PC Smuts reported back that
he had spoken to Roopesh Kapoor who had confirmed that he was the only person working at
the shop. He also advised Roopesh Kapoor regarding his obligations to uphold the licensing

objectives and that Kent Police, Trading Standards and Swale licensing would be monitoring

the premises.

On Thursday 27" July 2023 a multi-agency visit was made to Best One involving PC lan Pickett
and PC Marcus Topham, Oliver Jewell, Kent Trading Standards, Johanna Thomas, Swale BC

licensing and myself.

I spoke to Roopesh Kapoor and asked of the whereabouts of Vijay Kapoor and whether | could
speak to him. Roopesh queried why | wanted to do so, and | explained that as Vijay was the
DPS and therefore the person in day-to-day management control it was important that | could
speak to him in this regard. Roopesh then confirmed that Vijay had retired approximately 3
years ago. | explained to Roopesh that this meant that in actual fact all alcohol that had been
sold at the premises from the time Vijay Kapoor was no longer working, had been illegal, and

| showed him the mandatory condition on all premises licences which states:

Annex 1 — Mandatory Conditions

Condition 1

No supply of alcohol maybe made under this licence:-

(a) At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of it or

(b) At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or
his/her personal licence is suspended.

Every retail sale or supply of alcohol made under this licence must be made or authorised by
a person who holds a personal licence.

-

Signature: Dated: 7" September 2023

Page 49



Page 3 of 3

| then produced an Unlicensed Premises Closure Notice under Section 19 Criminal Justice
and Police Act 2001 (as amended by the Licensing Act 2003) which can be served on
premises where there has been an unlawful sale of alcohol in the previous 24 hours. This is

exhibited as EXI.

The effect of such a notice is that all licensable activities at the premises should cease
immediately although all other activities can continue. An authority then has between 7 days
and 6 months to seek a Closure Order from the Magistrates’ Court if the circumstances that
led to the Closure Notice being served in the first place are not remedied.

| asked Roopesh Kapoor if he wished to sign this which he did. He confirmed that he
understood what this meant, and he confirmed that he did and that he would shut the

premises immediately which he did.

Oliver Jewell then engaged Roopesh in conversation about the illegal vapes that he had
found within the store and PC Pickett wished to view the CCTV evidence so Johanna and

myself then left the premises.

At 20:35 on Thursday 27" July 2023 Vijay Kapoor emailed me to confirm that he would
resume his position as DPS at the premises and when not at the premises he would be

contactable. This is exhibited as EX Il

On Friday 28" July 2023 | emailed Vijay Kapoor to confirm that the S19 Closure Notice was
now lifted, and alcohol sales could resume. This is exhibited as EX III.

Subsequent to this on 23™ August 2023 Roopesh Kapoor submitted an application for the
grant of a personal licence to him under the Licensing Act 2003. This application was
processed the same day and a licence issued to him with the reference SWALE-PL-2313.

On 24" August 2023 Roopesh Kapoor submitted an application for a variation to the
Designated Premises Supervisor role of premises licence SIT/SWALE/189/0222 so that he
could take up this position. The Licensing Act 2003 allows for this change to come into
immediate effect, so an amended licence was issued the same day to show that Roopesh
Kapoor was now both the premises licence holder and the DPS.

However, the police have 14 days in which to lodge an objection to the DPS variation which
they did on 27" August 2003. The police cited the same grounds as those that they have
submitted a review application of the premises licence. This will now be the subject of a
hearing of the Licensing Sub-Committee to determine whether Roopesh Kapoor is suitable to

remain the DPS at the premises.

END OF STATEMENT

UL,

-«

Signature: Dated: 7" September 2023

Page 50




EXI

9 ROROLEH EOUNGIL

Making Swale a better place

UNLICENSED PREMISES —- CLOSURE NOTICE
Section 19 Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001
as amended by Licensing Act 2003

Premises Name: Best One, Hawthorn Road Off Licence

Address: 16 Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 1BB

Grounds for Notice - to make a closure notice under Section 19 a local authority must be
satisfied that any premises are being, or within the last 24 hours haven been, used for the
unauthorised sale of alcohol in contravention of section 136 of the Licensing Act 2003

Roasons for Notice
(Specify the alleged use and the steps that will have to be taken to ensure the alleged use of the

premises ceases or, as the case may be, does not occur -$19(6))

There is no valid Designated Premises Supervisor in place for the premises which is in
contravention with mandatory conditions imposed on a premises licence granted under the
Licensing Act 2003 — Reference SIT/SWALE/189/0222

Details of Council officer making the notice

Name: Christina Hills
ESAD

Designation: Licensing Team Leader Signature

Time ;27 /7 /0:?3

Date: 27 July 2023

Details of person having control of, or responsibility for, activities carried on at the

premises (Section 19(3) Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001

Notice served on: Mr Rupesh Kapoor

Signature/Refused .., Date: 27 July 2023 Time.

Details of any other persons whose access to the building may be impeded if a closure

order is made

Page 51




*

IO BOIVEE B0 et eeeeeserirecisscreseananasasanonssnnnsssaxassetesessunssnssnssssnnssssssenssesesnnnensnrennsssssnnemssrernrsinnsmeens

Signature/Refused.........ccocrmiieiie

Details of any other persons involved in control of, or responsibility for, activities carried
on at the premises or has as interest in the premises

NOTICE SEIVEE Ol oonneeeoeeeeseseeeernrenessasssesaeesss s s s teesnees smamseamaeseseaxeseetastssatnsesssassanssensssrennsensinssnaseereesanans

Signature/RefUSed. ... Date.................... Time.....covvvee
Details of Council officer serving the notice

Name

Designation Signature

Date Time

This document will be served with the document detailing the effect of Section 20 of the Criminal
Justice and Police Act 2001




B

BOROUGH COUNCIL
Making Swale a better place

UNLICENSED PREMISES —~ CLOSURE NOTICE

Section 19 Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001
as amended by Licensing Act 2003

Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001

A council officer has decided to make this closure notice under the terms of section 19 of the
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 as amended by Licensing Act 2003, requiring the premises
specified in the order to be closed.

The effect of Section 20 of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001

This part of the closure notice now explains the effects of section 20 of the Criminal Justice and
Police Act 2001 which enables a constable or local authority to apply for a closure order by
complaint from magistrates (between 7 days and six months after the service of the closure notice)
in redation to premises on which a closure notice has been served. A complaint cannot be laid
where the police or local authority is satisfied that the unlicensed sale of alcohol has ceased and

there is no reasonable prospect of it re-starting.

20(1) Where a closure notice has been served under section 19(3), a constable or the local
authority concerned may make a complaint to a justice of the peace acting for the petty
sessions area in which the premises are situated for an order under section 21 (a “closure

order”).

A complaint under subsection (1) shall be made not less that seven days, and not more

20(2)
than six months, after the service of the closure notice under section 19(3).

No complaint shall be made under subsection (1) if the constable or local authority is
satisfied that —

(a) the use of the premises for the unlicensed sale of intoxicating liquor for
consumption on or in the vicinity of, the premises has ceased; and
(b) there is no reasonable likelihood that the premises will be so used in the future.

Where a complaint has been made fo a justice of peace under subsection (1), the justice
may issue a summons to answer the compiaint.

20(3)

20(4)

20(5) The summons shall be directed to-

(a) the person on whom the closure notice was served under section 19(3); and
any other person on whom the closure notice was served under section 19(5)(a).

(b)

Page 53




EX1

Chris Hills
T T e e R P SR

Subject: EXH

From:
Sent: 27 july 2023 20:25

To: Chris Hills <ChrisHills@Swale.gov.uk>

Subject: BEST ONE 16A HAWTHORN ROAD ME10 1BB

CAUT ON: Thse o iginal’ o n ihe o, ; 1 attach s
unles you roes niz SR : i
TO: Chris Hills

FROM: Vijay Kapoor
DATE: 27-07-2023
Regarding: Best One 16A Hawthorn Road ME10 1B8B

Helio

I, Vijay Kapoor as the Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS), take responsibility for the day to day running
of the above mentioned business and | am also responsible for authorising the sale of alcohol from these

premises.
If on any occasion | am not at the above mentioned premises then | will be contactable.
Thank you.

Vijay Kapoor.

Page 54




EX HI

L s e e e

From: Chris Hills <ChrisHills@Swale.gov.uk>

Sent: 28 July 2023 10:.07
To: Subject: RE: BEST ONE 16A HAWTHORN ROAD ME10 1BB

Good morning Mr Kapoor

Thank you for your email.

As a consequence of your returning to your role as Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS} on premises licence
granted under the Licensing Act 2003 - reference SIT/SWALE/189/0222, | can confirm that the Closure Notice that
was served yesterday 27 July 2023 for illegal sales of aicohol, has now been lifted and you will be able to resume

selling alcohol when your shop opens today as 12:00.

I would remind you that the role of a DPS is to be in day-to-day management control of the premises and you will
therefore be expected to be in attendance at the premises for a substantial part of every day that your shop is open

to the pubilic.

in this regard | can advise that random spot checks will be conducted at your premises and if it is found that you are
routinely not in attendance then a further Closure Notice will be served. This could also be used as evidence should
it be necessary for the premises to be the subject of an application to review the premises licence.

1 will email you under separate cover regarding how to apply for a DPS variation and how Mr Roopesh Kapoor can

apply for a personal licence.
{ hope this is clear.
Best regards

Yours sincerely
Christing Hills
Christina Hills

Licensing Team Leader
Tel: 01795 417286 | Email: chrishills@swale.gov.uk | Website: www.swale.gov.uk

Swale Borough Council | Swale House | East Street | Sittingbourne | Kent | MELZO 3HT

from: vijay kapoor (D

Sent: 27 July 2023 20:25
To: Chris Hills <ChrisHills@Swale.gov.uk>
Subject: BEST ONE 16A HAWTHORN ROAD ME10 1BB

ot chick i so  aer 2 unless you

| CAUTION: This emal originated from outside of the organsation.
§  recopnize the senderand know the content | safe

-4

TO: Chris Hills



JoT
Highlight


FROM: Vijay Kapoor
DATE: 27-07-2023
Regarding: Best One 16A Hawthorn Road MELD 1BB

Hello

I, Vijay Kapoor as the Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS), take responsibility for the day to day running
of the above mentioned business and | am also responsible for authorising the sale of alcohol from these

premises.
If on any occasion | am not at the above mentioned premises then | will be contactable.
Thank you.

Vijay Kapoor.

Sent fram Qutlook

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity
they are addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify postmasteriiswale, gov.uk

Page 56



APPENDIX VI

TRADING

Memorandum .
e B8l STANDARDS

From Oliver Jewell Our Ref 205171
Principal Trading Standards Officer Your Ref

Tel 03000419327

Email oliver.jewell@kent.gov.uk

Date 11t September 2023

To Swale Borough Council Licensing Section

The Trading Standards Department of Kent County Council as a responsible authority under
the Licensing Act 2003, make representation on the grounds of the crime and disorder,
public nuisance and the protection of children from harm licensing objectives, in connection
with the review submitted by Kent Police in relation to Best One, 16 Hawthorn Road,
Sittingbourne.

The following representations are made with reference to information held on the
departmental complaints database as well as information received from the Kent County
Council Public Protection Intelligence Team who receive reports from external agencies.

The data referred to goes back to 2017 (with some reference to incidents before), being
relevant in demonstrating the long standing concerns held in respect of the premises at 16
Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne. As of late 2021, the majority of complaints relate to
disposable vaping products which although not subject to the Licensing Act, is a relevant
matter in relation to the age restrictions placed on those products and the resulting
inferences on the ability to uphold objectives of the Licensing Act.

25/10/2017 — test purchase operation carried out on the basis of prior intelligence (July 2015
sale of alcohol to minors, November 2015 sale of alcohol and tobacco to minors, August 2017
sale of alcohol and tobacco to minors). The test purchase on this occasion was passed.

20/12/2017 — a Challenge 25 test purchase was attempted on the basis of continuing
concerns related to the premises. A challenge 25 test purchase is designed to determine if a
premises is following the best practice principle of challenging anyone appearing to be under
25 for age restricted goods.

3/8/2018 — a further under 18 test purchase was carried out on the basis of further
intelligence received. Once again the sale was refused

The following detail ongoing reports received by the Trading Standards Service which unless
stated, are all unique in terms of who has made the complaint.

27/9/2019 — a member of the public reports that they are aware the premises is selling

alcohol and tobacco products to minors. They are also aware that cigarettes are being sold
singly from the premises which if proven would constitute a breach of the Standardised

Page 57



Packaging of Tobacco Regulations 2015, whereby cigarettes must be sold in a minimum
guantity of 20 as a measure to prevent young people from accessing tobacco products.

A drop in reports was experienced throughout the Covid pandemic, however disposable
vaping products emerged in popularity in the autumn of 2021, shortly after which complaints
re-emerged.

1/4/21 - an anonymous report was received through Crimestoppers alleging that the
premises was selling alcohol to “large groups of underage children”

4/9/2021 - a report from Kent Police was disseminated to Trading Standards in respect of
young people aged 14-16 being known to purchase alcohol from the store without challenge.
The same youths were alleged to drink alcohol in the nearby vicinity thus causing a public
nuisance.

11/11/2021 - a report from Kent Police was disseminated to Trading Standards alleging a
young person believed to be 15-16 years old was seen entering the store and leaving shortly
after with a packet of cigarettes believed to have been purchased at that time.

12/11/2021 - a report from Kent Police was disseminated to Trading Standards alleging that
Year 9 children (approx. 13-14 years old) from Westlands Secondary School were being sold
vape products from the premises.

23/11/2021 - a report from Kent Police was disseminated to Trading Standards to allege that
13 year olds were being sold vape products from the premises.

22/1/2022 - a member of the public reports concerns that the premises is selling alcohol,
tobacco and vaping products to under 18’s. The same complaint raises concern of drugs being
sold from the premises.

9/6/2022 — a report was received through an online anonymous reporting portal to state the
shop was selling vapes to 12 and 13 year olds. It was alleged the young people would go after
3pm when the owner was there as he would sell to them.

28/6/2022 — a report from Kent Police was disseminated to Trading Standards to state the
premises was selling cigarettes and vape products to Year 7 children (approx. 11-12 years old)
from the Westlands Secondary School.

11/7/2022 — a report from Kent Police was disseminated to Trading Standards to state that
11-12 year olds were being sold vape products from the premises. It was alleged the owner
removed the vapes from the packaging and told the young people to move away from the
shop after buying the products.

12/8/2022 — a member of the public reports that their 13 year old daughter and her friend
have been sold vaping products from the premises

28/8/2022 — a member of the public reports that their 13 year old daughter bought vapes

from the premises in July and “her and her friends went to this shop because they would get
served”

Page 58



29/8/2022 — a member of the public reported that their 12 year old daughter had been sold
vapes from the premises.

6/9/2022 - a member of the public reported that the premises had sold vaping products to
their daughter and her friend who were 12-13 years old.

23/9/2022 - a member of the public witnessed vape products being sold to young people
who were in school uniform.

27/10/2022 — a member of the public reported the sale of a vape to a 13 year old.
5/1/2023 - a member of the reported a sale of a vape to their 13 year old daughter.

5/1/2023 — a report from Kent Police was disseminated to Trading Standards which appears
to be duplicate to the previous report received directly by Trading Standards.

9/1/2023 — a report from Kent Police was disseminated to Trading Standards stating that
underage children that attend the Sittingbourne School were being sold vapes from the
premises. Given the timing of the report, it is possible that this report is duplicate.

7/3/2023 — a member of the public witnessed a sale being made to a group of three young
people, one being described as in school uniform and the other two being judged to be no
more than 14-15 years of age.

On the 5/4/2023 an advisory visit was carried out by officers from Kent Trading Standards.
Officers met with the owner Roopesh Kapoor and advised him of concerns. Mr Kapoor
showed signage relating to Challenge 25 and use of a refusals book as his evidence that he
had been refusing sales to young people. At the time of the visit Mr Kapoor reported that it
was only him working in the shop and he confirmed that his CCTV was working and recording
for 28 days as required.

10/5/2023 — a member of the public reported that their 15 year old daughter had purchased
a vape from the premises

17/6/2023 — a member of the public reported that their 12 year old child had been sold a
vape from the premises. The report continued that vape was a 9000 puff model which they
were told were kept under the counter. The complaint continued to allege that their child
and friends were sold vape products when wearing school uniform.

The Tobacco and Related Product Regulations 2016 require that a disposable e-cigarette
device contain no more than 2ml of nicotine containing liquid. Although other legislation
requires the quantity to be given on the packaging, some manufacturers choose to represent
the volume by a number of puffs the product provides. Industry have equated 2ml to
approximately be represented as 600 puffs and is commonly quoted on UK legal products. A
product claiming to contain 9000 puffs will without doubt be an illegal product that has not
been subject to the proper checks for sale in the UK.

On 27/7/2023 Trading Standards participated in the multi-agency visit to Best One at 16
Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne. As identified in the application Mr Roopesh Kapoor was alone
in control of the shop upon our arrival.

Page 59



Disposable vape products were displayed prominently on the counter which were checked
and all those on display appeared to meet the legal requirements, notably being no more
than 2ml/600 puffs. Mr Kapoor allowed the officer behind the counter where the inspection
continued.

In boxes behind the counter were disposable vape products that immediately were
recognized as illegal brands such as the R&M Tornado device which was labelled as
containing 18ml (nine times the UK legal limit).

Rl 8

TORNADO &

e seo, déantar

" do do shlainte

Side view of illegal vapes (two showing volume > 2ml) and reverse of shisha pack

Page 60



lllegal vapes, particularly those of higher capacities remain popular with young people as per
ml of liquid they are considerably cheaper than UK legal products, however in addition to
breaking UK safety requirements, they have been reported in other cases to contain heavy
metals such as lead where cheaper components not subject to emissions testing are used.

A total of 86 illegal vaping products were found and seized from these boxes behind the
counter. Mr Kapoor claimed to be unaware that there was anything wrong with them,
claiming they were present on the previous visit and nothing was said to him. The fact
remains however that it is implausible that by chance, not one of the illegal products were
found in the displays. Furthermore, it is believed Mr Kapoor knew exactly which products
were and which were not legal for UK sale.

In addition to the vaping product, 6 packs of herbal shisha molasses were seized. The shisha
did not carry correctly the health warnings required for sale in the UK, as required by the
Tobacco and Related Product Regulations 2016. It is likely that they are also subject to duty
evasion and are in fact smuggled goods. Herbal molasses carry the same duty thresholds as
tobacco as a means to reduce consumption. The current duty rate of £161.62/kg is applied to
‘other smoking tobacco’ which includes herbal products. At a pack weight of 50g, the duty
alone on each pack would be £8.08 whereas the price shown in the picture shows them to be
available for £3.00.

While checking for the presence of any further illegal vapes a number of other items were
drawn to the attention of officers.

Alongside the illegal vapes, a box containing bottles of ‘Room Odourisers’ under brands such
as Liquid Gold and Rush XXL was found as shown in the image below. The bottles are sold in
this way to avoid scrutiny as their true purpose of ‘poppers’ which are inhaled recreationally
causing europhic effects. The active ingredient is isopropyl nitrite which can also cause
dizziness and increased heart rates (and are potentially dangerous for those with heart
problems). Poppers are not covered by the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 but would be
regulated under the Medicines Act 1968.

Page 61



Close up of Rush XXL Bottle as found behind counter

Also behind the counter were boxes full of mini zip lock bags (as shown below). There is no
restriction on the sale of zip lock bags, however the setting, size and quantity indicates once
bought they would be used for drugs, a fact that was not denied by Mr Kapoor. Likewise the
presence of cream whippers and balloons used for the inhalation of nitrous oxide gas.

Page 62




Shelf Displaying Ziplock bags with packs of balloons to the left

J/ -~

Cream Whippers found on counter (to be used in combination with nitrous oxide cannisters)

Page 63




At the conclusion of the visit Mr Kapoor signed a voluntary disclaimer to allow the future
destruction of the seized goods.

Despite passing several exercises of testing Best One, either with those under the legal age
limit or as part of a Challenge 25 test purchase, complaints have persisted leading to the
conclusion that it is only those already known to Mr Kapoor who will be served.

On the balance of probabilities, the information including the sheer volume of complaints
suggests that the premises has and will continue to sell vapes to young people as well as the
likely continuation of products associated with drug use.

In a period between June 2022 and July 2023, this premises accounted for over 7% of all
complaints received by Trading Standards across the whole county in relation to the sale of
vapes to young people. The complaints have been assessed and are deemed to be individual,
unique and not vexatious against the premises.

It is believed that Mr Kapoor is not a person who is willing or able to uphold the licensing
objective to protect children from harm and equally given the associated concerns from
young people drinking alcohol in the immediate vicinity and the presence of drug
paraphernalia in the shop indicates that he is also unwilling or unable to uphold the
prevention of public nuisance objective. The presence in the shop of the illegal vapes in the
shop demonstrates an unwillingness to prevent crime.

Trading Standards would therefore support any moves to revoke the premises licence as
there are no conditions that would be suitable to bring about satisfactory change to this
business and the continuation of the licensable activity at this premises risks further
undermining of the Licensing Act objectives.

C. free

Oliver Jewell
Principal Trading Standards Officer — Kent County Council

Page 64



APPENDIX VI

Chris Hills

Subject: Representation 1

From:

Sent: 02 September 2023 12:27

To: Licensing (SBC) <Licensing@swale.gov.uk>

Subject: Best One, 16 Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 1BB

CAUTION; Thisnemai{ originated from outside of the organisation. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

To Who It May Concern,

I wish to put to you my comments with regards to the Best One Shop as titled in this email. I agree with the

licensing review into this premises.

I live on Arthur Street which is beside the shop (and its Hairdresser neighbour). We constantly have anti-
social behaviour from youths who are waiting for the shop to open, getting to the shop before it closes or
simply going in there to make their illegal purchases of Alcohol, Cigarettes and Vapes.

The youths will often then congregate down Arthur Street, in the parking bays opposite the premises. They
are loud, sometimes fighting, breaking glass bottles, leaving vape packages everywhere and have caused
numerous issues for which the Police/PCSO's have been called including damage to vehicles, intimidating
householders by knocking on windows and doors and all manner of other antisocial behaviour. A camera
was installed after long held concerns by residents in relation to the Police and the local MP.

The shop owner made this worse by illegally cutting away a metal fence which was installed by the council
to prevent people sitting along the parking bays (to allow access to gate they installed for a one-bedroom

flat in the rear of the shop property).

It is well known amongst young people that they will be sold illegal products such as alcohol, cigarettes and
vape products. Infact you often see and hear youths walking down the road to see whether the shop is open,
finding it closed and then actively waiting until it opens.

We have found that when the proprietor has a day-off and the shop closed, there is virtually no antisocial
behaviour occurring but as soon as the shop opens, it starts again. This is particularly bad during school
holidays so we are well aware that the people buying these products are under-age but know they can be
serviced by this shop.

There are simply too many incidents of abhorrent behaviour to list them all here, but we would strongly
urge you to revoke any such license which would be of great benefit to all those householders in the

vicinity.

Palge 65



Chris Hills

From: Licensing (SBC)
Subject: Representation 2

From:

Sent: 02 September 2023 12:57

To: Licensing (SBC) <Licensing@swale.gov.uk>
Subject: Best one Hawthorn Road

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

| am emailing regarding the license review for The Best One on Hawthorn Road which has been trading illegally for several
years.

| am a resident of Arthur St and | see first hand every day that this shop is almost exclusively selling vapes, tabacco products,
alcohol and drugs paraphernalia to underage children, often in school uniform. No longer does it sell fresh items or milk which

are useful and serve the community.

Since the opening of Tesco, Morrisons and Lidl, this shop has found itself in an area that no longer requires a convenience store,
and has subsequently turned to selling vapes to school children to make money.

Every day there are children hanging around outside our houses waiting for ‘Roo’ to start serving, and it is common for large
groups to hang around and send one child in who will report back ‘he said come back later coz he’s not serving yet!’ It’s been

happening in plain sight for around the last 3 years. It wasn’t like this before.

| am a teacher and it is WELL KNOWN in local schools that this shop is serving underage children. It is also well known amongst
the local police. | as a resident have reported the shop many times to reading standards, the police, and several times to my
local MP Gordon Henderson. | hope all of these people/institutions are consulted in this licensing review as the information

provided by them would be stark and shocking.

This shop is a hub for anti social behaviour including verbal abuse to residents, damage to cars and property, and unbelievable

amounts of litter and should be shut down immediately.

Thank you,

Pageé 66




Chris Hills

From: Licensing (SBC)

To:
Subject: Representation 3

From:
Sent: 07 September 2023 16:02

To: Licensing (SBC) <Licensing@swale.gov.uk>
Subject: LICENSING REVIEW FOR THE BEST ONE SHOP HAWTHORNE ROAD, SITTINGBOURNE

CAUTION: This emal originated from outside of the organisation. Do not dlick links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe,

To the Licensing Team

We would like to make our comments regarding the above premises with regard to renewing the
licence.

We have witnessed on several occasions under age children entering the above shop and

purchasing alcohol, vapes
and cigarettes, we have listed some of these below although we have telephoned the Police

several times, there is also
a cctv camera on the corner of Arthur Street, when telephoning the Police we have also given

them date, time and
descriptions of the children.

1st July - 4 boys aged about 14/15yrs of age came out of shop with bottles of beer and sat in the

recess of 16¢ Arthur Street
when they finished drinking they smashed all the bottles in Arthur Street, a neighbour had to go

out and clean all the glass
up because it was a danger to road users.

6th July - 4.00 in the afternoon one boy aged around 15/16rs went into the shop and came out

with a black plastic carrier
bag , he took out a bottle of whiskey and placed it inside his rucksack he also purchased a vape.

This behaviour has been going on for far too long where we have been plagued with anti-social

behaviour where
hoards of kids all over from Sittingbourne and beyond congregate to purchase alcohol, vapes and

cigarettes.

The problem when Trading Standards do an underage operation is the owner sells to children who

know a special
password which enables them to purchase the alcohol, vapes and cigarettes. The schools in

Sittingbourne know
all about this.

We therefore would be very disappointed should these premises continue selling alcohol.

Page 67



JoT_1
Highlight


P epregentadion

Swale Council
R.E: hawthorn road licensing review

My name is Kelly, the residents of Arthur street that keep moaning about the shop
being there, moaning about anything and everything really need to look at the

bigger picture. | see them use the shop but yet the moan about it.
They have approached me many times and | live on hawthorn road trying to get

me to sign things and moan about the shop, littering, the fence, opening hours
and people hanging around outside. I've never had an issue with him and the

shop looks after the community really well.

Yours,

Page 68

L



Represen tafion 5

Re: Best One Hawthorn Road Sittingbourne

To whom it may concern,

| am writing to advise that Roop is a pillar of this community and without the
shop the areas residents would struggle greatly. | have never seen anything
untoward going on in the shop and | visit daily. He is an asset to the area and
goes out of his way to help others

Regards

Page 69



Representahon A

To Swale Council,

I live opposite the shop, I saw the notice in the window and felt the need to write
in. I can see everything that goes on and it's run really well. The shop opening
hours are good and considerate towards the neighbours in the street as he opens
late and shuts at a reasonable time. The shop is busy with people from the area

and I've never noticed anything dodgy going on.

From

Page 70



lepresentahon ' =~

®eo_r GUOO-LQ_ \:C_eng l“ng) Compc(\uj

\ oun UQ(.\'\'\;LC'\/) \.OT\"\A (eacrds “\"O ‘\"\—Q %\f\op
Nex} door Yo Whae \ \ewe wode Q- We pus)
\%geds- Qoop owns Yle Dhop cod \as Q}v\Dcuds
oo on assel Yo oor Coﬁf\ﬂ'\o«'u_ .

“ZOOP oo akusaﬂs oacne alcvoe G;tée '\oe'tjonA _Qc/ edd
Vus  Costomars - \n all Ve Jeas \ Vowe Loerleed O
o \occbars eyl door \ con Condrm \ house Neue-

Cnce. Saan oc Uif\neggecl &200(; sdl an 5\\,\.’ e Sveddht
Al ;»I\ \\LM’L
aey adlu\rg \e Eochace
Hege Ler Hlam \J\r\\t-ncuo\‘\g\ \;C:)Ema?f@ ool Purehased
\ c\o \«of-e. ’\‘\»Od- tﬁ)\) EOX&» i\/\'«a \n.chmcc\:xcn \A)A'\f\
Sincece \aones‘\:ﬁ ond Qoop ('Y\a:) Cgfr\-m\_,e \ou%\‘ness as

N\ oMol

\Jd”g‘k}\eSSQo\ —\—-eano\gqj o,
C '\@w-eﬂes ¢ Q\Ce)\na\ end

Nows Snccely

Page 71 |



Chris Hills

Licensing (SBC)

From:
Representation 8

Subject:

From:

Sent: 13 September 2023 17:17

To: Licensing (SBC) <Licensing@swale.gov.uk>
Subject: Best One, Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
To whom it may concern,
I would like to make a representation in support of the review of the premises licence at the Best One Off Licence, Hawthorn
Road.

| can confirm that the current occupier/staff within the premises have been selling electronic vaping devices to my underage
daughter on numerous occasions. My daughter attends a local secondary school and it is well known among students that this
establishment will sell vaping devices to underage children. My daughter will visit the shop in her school uniform and still be

allowed to purchase the device.

Whilst | am doing my best to remove these devices and highlight to my daughter the safety & health concerns of vaping, this is
made increasingly hard when premises are prepared to continually sell underage children vaping products.

The shop is within easy walking distance of secondary schools and is not meeting the licensing objective to protect children from

harm. One could question if they are willing to sell vaping devices to underage children are they aiso selling alcohol without the
required checks. 1 would also argue the willingness to sell several devices to underage children over a number of months puts

into question the suitability of the owner & staff of the premise to hold a licence.

Kind Regards

Page 72



Qe Pr@f@ﬂ@o N 9

The Licensing Section .
Swale Borough Council ~

Swale House

East Street
Sittingbourne < is
Kent i Fons A
ME10 3HT N

Subject: Best One, 16 Hawthorne Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1BB

To whom it may concern

| am making a representation in relation to a recent REVIEW OF PREMISES LICENCE to the above store. During the
last 7 years that | have been using this store daily and have never witnessed the store owner sell any age restricted
products including alcohol to any minor under the legal age of 18. | have witnessed requests for identification regularly

from the owner to verify the customers age.

The owner continues to play a pivotal role in this community and has been even more so during the recent corona
virus lock down periods ensuring that his customers, including the most vuinerable had access to vital daily essentials

at the risk of his own heaith.

| am extremely disappointed that the above order has been unjustifiably applied to this store when there are other
stores in sittingbourne, in particular the bottom half of the high street that do not follow and rules and are knowingly

selling illicit products.
| feel that this order has been applied to this store in grave error and would urge you to reconsider your actions.

Kind Regards

Page 73



7/—{4 LL(@{UC{)ﬂ 5@55207) Cepresen fedtion 1O
Swale. ferougr (ounad
Swale Houe
East Sthat
S ijoa/ﬂé
Kent
Mero 347

Subject - Bes One, 1ty Hoathome £A Sutsgbouing
Kenl, pe 1o 160 .

/0 whom d ﬂ’?\&y (e,

[ have ban Usug Hhis Shop fo maqy Gears
and pant fey ower wiknesed The e owns
Sel any age  feshcted proddd, includyg
eho( 7o any pesons wndsrs he éaﬁfﬁ@ ,/Zéjﬂ«é
YGe -
" am 0&0&4‘]@{ that his revaw d premises fy
”l:i‘én& has ~6clured /(4 anj%% he 73 5{”7
71&/]&2[@/ y /,/Xi(@dfe AL GbuMe ég The b

/

Page 74



H O‘UCYH\B( N ([N

Renew

Representabon | |

S\*‘)Qlﬁ Cgunoi )
Mo, name 'S Zofen ond | | Ve on

Oré{/ ‘M\O\’\f QOQPS S\r\bp “\(f,Y\SQ S W_‘ﬂ C’\\'\th)f\ed
o e

Ue hos always fun AHhal Shep p@p@/’\é- \ Z@; of

heen ased ro by barze | pogs ond Vepe T?

3 OrdUNd (SO < chhows he

: aorS e hon
FeenaglR” 9 e deen? e »

: el \a
ARCSW NIALS andes a9y o
o \Jer\ler\*} og\d V¥ L\\G\}\Ld he Q 3 (QDUL

e Shap 1S ey @n )

QQSQJAS

Howstheyn Rood 1nthe (1

*



errese\rwb DA }Z

Dear Swale licensing,

My name is Alan, I live a few doors down from the shop. I've lived here
as long as the shop has been there, Roops run it the best way and
there’s no issues that I'm aware of from the shop being there, no crime

and disorder that you mention in the notice.

Page 76




erreser\m«h()/\ /%

To the council/licensing committee,

I have worked next door to Best One Hawthorn Road Sittingbourne for
years now and for the most part it’s a quiet little shop, away from the
main road and it’s essential for the local elderly residents who can’t
make it in to town. You mention in the public statement that the police
are wanting the licence to be reviewed to protect the children and to
minimise crime and disorder however near enough every day | see
parents willingly buy their kids the vapes, even in cther stores you see
parents buy their kids alcohol and come outside and give it to them.

Thank you

Page 77



Representtdios | Ly

Swale council,

I've been using the shop since Roop and his family have owned it. Honest and hard working people with
a good retail background. | was a regular at the other store they owned in sittingbourne and now use
this one regularly. Everything from prices they charge and to the way they run the store is fair and
it's a pleasure going there and spending my money eompared to other shops that rip you off. | know a
number of people from various generations that know the family well who would speak highly of them
especially Roop and they are a credit to Sittingbourne retail community.

Regards,

Page 78



Q@bp resentahon S

ot v oo 2l AN PII0 e %smwz W,
ﬂvogc%w.éwimw V! pecthoy VIR @ﬁmﬂOf&b o

PBIMD ¢ 2ty | §§.w§§$§ Y 2t
2 3 bovs ) | o\_éam Prvov Q_z~ﬂhu§)w3 TNGeRsy
o bropre o oy Preols Mot s
o4 voradb way ey ) ) Xyveve 30y srenioy
lﬂfavu?eo.?z* o 5 Jaolloy py! G U vedw
2U) PG 0 bng 4 0 1R0 4ok 0 Wy
, O W snp poPoroivs o pasen Soq bons
TN B AN AN Wy e b g yob op
TR TR W3 Syovsh) e oy wdow | v
(T2 00 vosol Ohamsa o ) s g
VTR QMM\,AA U R V0 Serdy A0 nay S\ vllo
IR IMS 7} v Skopus V0 2t e e
,\xﬂ/mé%i égg% oééaééa%ﬁ

S|

——

2aaldly 0y 754 vars 959y vom v 5o
S ({Pur svay PE) Svoat 1 sk Sirpoad
U R o yowme sho

ey oy gy P \<§§é~ ™ \3p7) MWdg 4&
A My 5! VIR o vano230)) s @réa@&
.%:n M2 579 Y 9 g c,z,je_ S f?S

SN g ! a0 4B o J2440 wady gy wé&Sé K
ms?sw A R/ 0 a0 vz g 7o

(89930 ' fo9Jostp % Y TP Soy N IV

P Y212t 2l 49 P AR 0 vom pyens N |
¥+ W3 oy B)joy

Ml W0 o 526 var YReog
W 3° 9932 © v M9 Y
T AT PR R . J8)
S0 Px Sp ! 12910500 T D Ao éz)@é@
-W.ﬁuso@& SWIIVI) 2W0G 2r9v) P Ay T %m
werd pydd ) ! Yooy VRO W 25099 Yorovdo
Mg 4&@@ b o .ﬁv\&w.& w ol Q) @ite WY \

J?4 Y)Y Vreyre

WOoveW ) g 19%)

gr0y ol |y,




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix VI

EXTRACT FROM SWALE BC STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY UNDER THE
LICENSING ACT 2003 - 2021 - 2026

14

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

14.5

14.6

14.7

14.8

14.9

REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE OR CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATE

The Licensing Authority acknowledges that at any stage following the grant of a
premises licence matters can arise at premises that raise concern as to the
continued promotion of the licensing objectives at licensed premises.

The Act allows a licence to be reviewed where such matters arise. It is expected that
most reviews will be applied for by Responsible Authorities.

Although this Licensing Authority is also a Responsible Authority and may bring about
a review application, it is not expected that it will act as a Responsible Authority on
behalf of other parties (for example, local residents, local councillors or ~ community

groups).

Such parties can make relevant representations to the Licensing Authority in their
own right, and it is reasonable for the Licensing Authority to expect them to make
representations themselves where they are reasonably able to do so. However, if
these parties have failed to take action and the Licensing Authority is aware of
relevant grounds to make a representation, it may consider acting in its capacity as
Responsible Authority.

The Licensing Authority will determine whether a review application is relevant and
the validity of a review application will be determined by a licensing officer. This will
be on the basis of whether the request for the review is:

e relevant to one or more off the licensing objectives and
e not frivolous, vexatious or repetitious.

In every review case an evidential basis for the allegations made will need to be
submitted to the Council as the Licensing Authority.

The Licensing Authority would expect grounds for a review to be evidence based but
will consider each application on its merits.

Where a review application is accepted the Licensing Authority will encourage the
parties to enter into mediation during the consultation period to help resolve or narrow
issues arising. The Council would be happy to assist in these meetings as
appropriate.

All reviews, save where agreed by all parties as unnecessary, will lead to a hearing
before a sub-committee. This may be a full hearing or a condensed hearing to

consider the outcome of mediation. However other parties who have made
representation but not been involved in mediation will be permitted to voice their
representations at the hearing in accordance with the Hearings Regulations. The Policy
applied to hearings can be found in section 16.

Page 81



Appendix VI

14.10 The authority considers that where reviews are raised as a result of serious crime
and disorder causing that licensing objective to be undermined, then it is likely that
that a revocation of the licence will be considered.

Page 82



	Agenda
	5 Review of Premises Licence under the Licensing Act 2003
	Appendix I
	Appendix II
	Appendix III
	Appendix IV
	Appendix V - v2
	Appendix VI
	Appendix VII - v2
	Appendix VIII




